IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

RAPHAEL FLOWERS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT

V.

OCT - 6 2009

NO. 2009-KA-0387-SCT

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS
Benjamin A. Suber, MS Bar No.
301 North Lamar Street, Suite 210
Jackson, Mississippi 39201
Telephone: 601-576-4200

Counsel for Raphael Flowers

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

RAPHAEL FLOWERS

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2009-KA-0387-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
FACTS 2
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 5
ARGUMENT 6
ISSUE NO. 1
UNDER DOUBLE JEOPARDY THE STATE WAS
BARRED FROM PROSECUTING FLOWERS AGAIN
BECAUSE THE FIRST CASE RESULTED IN A
MISTRIAL BASED ON PROSECUTORIAL
MISCONDUCT
ISSUE NO. 2
RAPHAEL FLOWERS WAS IRREPARABLY AND
UNFAIRLY PREJUDICED WHEN CHARACTER
EVIDENCE OF PRIOR BAD ACTS OR OTHER
UNRELATED CRIMES NOT CHARGED IN THE
INDICTMENT WERE WAS ADMITTED OVER
FLOWERS' OBJECTION
ISSUE NO. 3
THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING FLOWERS'
MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL AFTER THE STATE
FAILED TO COMPLY WITH DISCOVERY RULES BY
FAILING TO DISCLOSE MEDICAL RECORDS AND
THAT A WITNESS WAS RECEIVING THERAPY 14
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

FEDERAL CASES

Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963)
Divans v. California, 434 U.S. 1303, 1303, 98 S.Ct. 1, 1, 54 L.Ed.2d 14, 15 (1977) 8
Michelson v. United States, 335 U.S. 469, 475-76, 69 S.Ct. 213, 218-19, 93 L.Ed. 168, 173-74 (1948)
United States v. Jorn, 400 U.S. 470, 482, 91 Sct. 547, 557, 27 L.Ed.2d 543, 555 (1970) 8
STATE CASES
Box v. State, 437 So.2d 19 (Miss. 1983)
Brooks v. State, 903 So.2d 691, 699 (Miss. 2005)
Carter v. State, 402 So.2d 817, 821-22 (Miss. 1981)
Crawford v. State, 754 So.2d 1211, 1220 (Miss. 2000)
Darghty v. State, 530 So.2d 27, 33 (Miss. 1998)
Dotson v. State, 593 So.2d 7, 12 (Miss. 1991)
Easter v. State, 878 So.2d 10, 21 (Miss. 2004)
Edlin v. State, 533 So.2d 403 (Miss. 1998)
Inman v. State, 515 So.2d 1150, 1153 (Miss. 1987)
Jenkins v. State, 759 So.2d 1229, 1234 (Miss. 2000)
Jones v. State, 398 So.2d 1312 (Miss. 1981)
Ladner v. State, 584 So.2d 743, 758 (Miss. 1991)

McClendon v. State, 387 So.2d 112, 114 (Miss. 1980)
McCullough v. State, 750 So.2d 1212, 1217 (Miss. 1999)
McDowell v. State, 807 So.2d 413, 422 (Miss. 2001)
Neal v. State, 451 So.2d 743, 759 (Miss. 1984)
Powell v. State, 925 So.2d 878, 881 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005)
Robinson v. State, 508 So.2d 1067, 1070 (Miss. 1987)
Rose v. State, 556 So.2d 728, 731 (Miss. 1990)
Schawarzauer v. State, 339 So.2d 980, 982 (Mis. 1976)
Smith v. State, 656 So.2d 95, 100 (Miss. 1995), overruled on other grounds, Brown v. State, 890 So.2d 901, 912 (Miss. 2004)
Snelson v. State, 704 So.2d 452, 458 (Miss. 1997)
Swington v. State, 742 So.2d 1106, 1112 (Miss. 1999)
Watts v. State, 492 So.2d 1281, 1284 (Miss. 1986)
Watts v. State, 635 So.2d 1364, 1368 (Miss. 1994)
Wooten v. State, 811 So.2d 355, 365 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

RAPHAEL FLOWERS

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2009-KA-00387-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE NO. 1

UNDER DOUBLE JEOPARDY THE STATE WAS BARRED FROM PROSECUTING FLOWERS AGAIN BECAUSE THE FIRST CASE RESULTED IN A MISTRIAL BASED ON PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT.

ISSUE NO. 2

RAPHAEL FLOWERS WAS IRREPARABLY AND UNFAIRLY PREJUDICED WHEN CHARACTER EVIDENCE OF PRIOR BAD ACTS OR OTHER UNRELATED CRIMES NOT CHARGED IN THE INDICTMENT WERE WAS ADMITTED OVER FLOWERS' OBJECTION.

ISSUE NO. 3

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING FLOWERS' MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL AFTER THE STATE FAILED TO COMPLY WITH DISCOVERY RULES BY FAILING TO DISCLOSE

MEDICAL RECORDS AND THAT A WITNESS WAS RECEIVING THERAPY.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Leflore County, Mississippi, and a judgment of conviction for the crime of Count I - Statutory Rape. Flowers was sentenced to thirty (30) years with the Mississippi Department of Corrections. A mistrial was granted for Count II - Statutory Rape, Count III - Sexual Battery, and Count IV - Sexual Battery. Flowers is currently in the custody of the Department of Corrections following a jury trial on November 6, 2007, and November 8, 2007, Honorable Jannie M. Lewis, presiding.

Flowers was previously tried June 19-20, 2007, Honorable Betty M. Sanders presiding. The Court granted a mistrial due to the cumulative misconduct of the assistant district attorney.

FACTS

On April 23, 2006, four young boys, Jacorius Banks, Jaquez Hill, Jacolby Hill, and Henry Stevenson, allege that Raphael Flowers had sexual relations with the boys.

Jacorius testified during the second trial that he Flowers wanted him to go walking. Tr.

321. They left Gloria's new house and went to Gloria's old house. Tr. 321-22. Jacorius claimed that Jacolby, Jaquez, and Henry² were all together at Gloria's old house. Tr. 322.

¹Gloria is Raphael Flowers mother. She recently had moved to a new house. The alleged incident took place in Gloria's old house, which appeared to be abandoned.

²Henry's nickname is Biggie

According to Jacorius all four boys lined up against the wall. *Id.* Jacorius alleged that Flowers told him to pull down his pants, then Flowers pulled down his boxers. *Id.* Flowers then put his penis in Jacorius's mouth and then put his penis in Jacorius's butt. *Id.* Jacorius continued his testimony by stating that Flowers was moving "back and forth." Tr. 323.

However, Jacorius's statement to police was drastically different than his testimony. In Jacorius's statement he stated that only he and Flowers went to Gloria's old house. Exhibit S-3 for ID, R.E. 45. Furthermore, Jacorius declared that Flowers took Jacorius's hand and placed it on his privates. *Id.* Flowers allegedly told Jacorius he wanted him to "beat his meat." *Id.* Then Flowers told him to put his head "down there." *Id.* Jacorius complied with that request and Flowers told him to suck his penis. *Id.* Jacorius did what Flowers had asked and then Flowers tried to put his penis into the Jacorius's butt. *Id.*

Jaquez Hill testified that Flowers called all of the boys over to Gloria's house. Tr. 375. Jaquez stated the Flowers lined all the boys up against the wall in Gloria's room. *Id.*Jaquez stated that he was the third boy to go with Flowers. Tr. 376. Jaquez claimed that Flowers told him to pull down his pants. *Id.* Then Flowers pulled down his pants. *Id.*Jaquez contended that Flowers then "pumped [him] in his butt." with his penis. *Id.*However, in Jaquez's statement to police, he stated that only Jacolby and Henry were with him at Gloria's old house with Flowers. Exhibit S-6 for ID, R.E. 46.

Jacolby testified that Flowers took Jacolby, Jacorius, Jaquez, and Henry to Gloria's old house. Tr. 391. Jacolby then claims that Flowers had them all line up against the wall. *Id.* Jacolby stated that Flowers would then call them one by one. *Id.* Flowers told Jacolby to come lay on the bed. *Id.* Jacolby alleged that Flowers had him lay on his stomach and Flowers told him to pull down his pants. Tr. 392. Jacolby then contends that Flowers stuck his penis into his butt. *Id.*

Jacolby further testified that he had heard many thing from Jacorius³. Tr. 398.

Jacolby on cross-examination admitted that he did not tell the police that Flowers made the boys line-up against the wall. *Id.* Jacolby heard that from Jacorius. *Id.* Furthermore, Jacolby stated that many things he testified too, he was told about by Jacorius. *Id.*

Henry tesified that the boys were lined-up against the wall and Flowers called them in one by one. Tr. 403. Henry stated on the stand that Flowers would give him fifteen cents (\$0.15) to suck his penis. *Id.* Henry never received any money from Flowers. *Id.*

On cross-examination, Henry admitted that he never saw Flowers do anything to any of the other boys that were there at Gloria's old house. Tr. 405. He also admitted that he never read his statement from the sheriff's office. Tr. 407.

Flowers through testimony, stated that he did not admit to anyone at the police department that he assaulted any of the children. Tr. 456. Flowers stated that the police told him he had to sign some papers in order to get a bond to get out of jail. Tr. 455.

³Jacorius's also is called J.J.

Flowers further testified that he never saw a waiver of right form. Tr. 460. Flowers also stated that he only sign the statement to police because they said they were going to get him some help and bond. Tr. 455-56.

Nevertheless, Flowers testified that he was playing basketball on the alleged day in question. Tr. 457. Flowers remember arriving at the basketball court around 12:30 pm and leaving somewhere around 6:30 pm that afternoon. Flowers had several defense witnesses that verified Flowers alibi of playing basketball on April 23, 3006.

Tomario Williams expressed that he arrived at the basketball court arounf 12:00-12:30 pm on April 23, 2006. Tr. 474. Williams never saw Flowers leave the area. Tr 475.

Tony Bennett also verified that Flowers was playing basketball on April 23, 2006. Bennett stated the Flowers never left the basketball court and that he and Flowers were playing on the same team. Tr. 477.

Derrius Spratt was also playing basketball on April 23, 2006. Tr 485. Spratt testified that Flowers was in fact playing basketball. Tr. 486. However, he was not sure if Flowers was there the whole time. *Id*.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Appellant, Raphael Flowers, constitutional protections guaranteed by the Fifth Amendment and the Double Jeopardy Clause of both the United States Constitution and of the Mississippi State Constitution were violated. The State had an operative bar against bringing of another prosecution when the first case resulted in a mistrial wholly

based upon an act by the same state. A defendant who moves for a mistrial is barred from later complaining of double jeopardy. To overcome this bar, (Defendant) must show that error occurred and that it was committed by the prosecution purposefully to force (Defendant) to move for a mistrial. Prosecutorial misconduct was clearly evident in the record as stated by the trial court. Tr. 144.

The trial court improperly admitted into evidence of alleged bad acts of Flowers. The evidence of a crime other than that charged in the indictment is not admissible evidence against the accused. The trial court allowed the State to introduce evidence through Flowers alleged statement about other acts that occurred that was not presented in the indictment. The probative value of the evidence did not substantially outweigh the prejudicial effect of the prior alleged crimes as required by M.R.E 403. This evidence was unduly prejudicial.

The State violated the discovery rules by not disclosing disclose medical reports and one (1) year of treatment by Jacorius. This was a reversible error he court in denying Sanders his right to a fair trial. This Court should reverse the trial court and remand the case for a new trial.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE NO. 1

UNDER DOUBLE JEOPARDY THE STATE WAS BARRED FROM PROSECUTING FLOWERS AGAIN BECAUSE THE FIRST CASE RESULTED IN A MISTRIAL BASED ON PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT.

Flowers made several motions for a mistrial during the first trial that occurred on June 19-20, 2007. Tr. 3, 143. The trial court granted a mistrial based on the actions of the prosecution. Tr. 2, 142-44. The prosecution, during opening statements made a comment clearly to inflame the jury. Tr. 2. The prosecution stated that "this is one of the saddest and sickening cases I've ever tried." *Id.* Flowers immediately objected and moved for a mistrial. *Id.* The court ruled that the comment was improper, but did not rise to the level of a mistrial and told the jury to completely disregard the statement made by the assistant district attorney. Tr. 3-4.

Later during cross-examination, the prosecution asked the witness, "why are you just waiting until today to come in and make this statement that you were with him the whole time." Tr. 143. Flowers immediately objected to the form of the question and moved for a mistrial. *Id.* After argument from both sides, the trial court ruled that "the cumulative affect of what has occurred requires the Court to grant this mistrial. It's not just this incident. It's the opening statement. It's the questions, the way they were asked to the children, and some things that were said by way almost arising to testimony from the district attorney to get information before the jury that did not properly come from the witness, the Court is going to grant the motion." Tr. 144.

"The double jeopardy prohibition does not mean that every time a trial abort or does not end with a final judgment the defendant must be set free." *Schawarzauer v.*State, 339 So.2d 980, 982 (Mis. 1976). "However, if a mistrial is granted upon the court's own motion, or upon the state's motion, a second trial is barred because of double

jeopardy unless there was a manifest necessity for the mistrial, taking into consideration all the circumstances." *Watts v. State*, 492 So.2d 1281, 1284 (Miss. 1986); *Jones v. State*, 398 So.2d 1312 (Miss. 1981). "Some examples of manifest necessity are: failure of a jury to agree on a verdict, . . .; biased jurors; . . .; an otherwise tainted jury; . . .; improper separation of jury; . . . when jurors otherwise 'demonstrate their willingness to abide by the instructions of the court," *Watts*, 492 So.2d at 1284. *See Jones*, 398 So.2d at 1315, 1318; *Schwarzauer*, 339 So.2d at 982.

"Even if the state does not move for a mistrial, the involvement of the state is relevant in determining whether a second trial is time barred." *Watts*, 492 So.2d at 1284. *See Carter v. State*, 402 So.2d 817, 821-22 (Miss. 1981); *Jones*, 398 So.2d at 1318.

"Generally, a defendant who moves for a mistrial is barred from later complaining of double jeopardy." *Jenkins v. State*, 759 So.2d 1229, 1234 (Miss. 2000). *See McClendon v. State*, 387 So.2d 112, 114 (Miss. 1980). "To overcome this bar, (Defendant) must show that error occurred and that it was committed by the prosecution purposefully to force (Defendant) to move for a mistrial." *Jenkins*, 759 So.2d at 1234; *Carter*, 402 So.2d at 821. *See also Divans v. California*, 434 U.S. 1303, 1303, 98 S.Ct. 1, 1, 54 L.Ed.2d 14, 15 (1977). "Without proof of judicial error prejudicing the defendant, or 'bad faith prosecutorial misconduct,' double jeopardy does not arise." *Jenkins*, 759 So.2d at 1234; *United States v. Jorn*, 400 U.S. 470, 482, 91 Sct. 547, 557, 27 L.Ed.2d 543, 555 (1970)(plurality).

Flowers asked the trial court to grant a mistrial. Tr. 3, 143. The trial court declared a mistrial and told the assistant district attorney that it was due to his conduct during the course of the trial. Tr. 144.

In *McDowell*, the court declared a mistrial after a witness stated that he had shown a photo line-up to the undercover police officer in the presence of the jury. *McDowell v. State*, 807 So.2d 413, 422 (Miss. 2001). At that point there was confusion as to whteth the statement had actually been made a whether the officer had previously identified McDowell from the video prior to looking at the photo line-up. *Id.* After the court was unsure how to cure the error, McDowell moved for a mistrial and the court granted the motion. *Id.* The trial court made it clear that there was no sign of prosecutorial misconduct in the testimony that lead to a mistrial. *Id.* Therefore double jeopardy did not apply.

McDowell can be distinguished from the case at hand. The court clearly took offense to the conduct of the prosecution. The court stated that it was not just the current incident, it was the opening statement, the way he was asking questions to the children, and by the way he was trying to get information before the jury that did not properly come from the witness. Tr. 144. Double jeopardy arises due to the "bad faith prosecutorial misconduct" of the assistant district attorney. *Jenkins*, 759 So.2d at 1234.

Flowers asked this court to reverse and render his case under double jeopardy because the State was barred from prosecuting Flowers again because the first case resulted in a mistrial based on prosecutorial misconduct.

ISSUE NO. 2

RAPHAEL FLOWERS WAS IRREPARABLY AND UNFAIRLY PREJUDICED WHEN CHARACTER EVIDENCE OF PRIOR BAD ACTS OR OTHER UNRELATED CRIMES NOT CHARGED IN THE INDICTMENT WERE WAS ADMITTED OVER FLOWERS' OBJECTION.

Flowers objected to the contents of the alleged statement made by Flowers to police after he was arrested. Tr. 333. Flowers objected to the fact that certain portions of the statement not charged in the indictment should not be read to the jury. *Id.* The were allegations of fondling in the statement, however, it was not charged in the indictment and should not have been presented to the jury. The court overruled the objection. Tr. 334.

"Generally, evidence of a crime other than that charged in the indictment is not admissible evidence against the accused." *Duplantis v. State*, 644 So.2d 1235, 1246 (Miss. 1994); *Ladner v. State*, 584 So.2d 743, 758 (Miss. 1991). "However, where another crime or act is 'so interrelated [to the charged crime] as to constitute a single transaction or occurrence or a closely related series of transactions or occurrences,' proof of the other crime or act is admissible." *Duplantis*, 644 So.2d at 1246 (*quoting Wheeler v. State*, 536 So.2d 1347, 1352 (Miss. 1988)); *Neal v. State*, 451 So.2d 743, 759 (Miss. 1984). "Proof of another crime or act is also admissible where necessary to identify the defendant, to prove motive" *Id*.

The statements about Flowers' alleged prior bad acts fall within the area of bad acts as contemplated by M.R.E. 404(b). Mississippi Rule of Evidence 404(b) provides:

Other Crimes, Wrongs, or Acts. Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show that he acted in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident.

Mississippi Rules of Evidence 404(b).

A two-part analysis is conducted in order to determine whether to admit evidence under Rule 404(b). "The evidence offered must (1) be relevant to prove a material issue other than the defendants's character; and (2) the probative value of the evidence must outweigh the prejudicial effect." *Crawford v. State*, 754 So.2d 1211, 1220 (Miss. 2000).

This Court stated that in order to pass muster under Rule 404(b), evidence must "be such that it satisfies some other evidentiary purpose beyond simply showing that [the defendant] is the sort of fellow likely to commit the crime charged." *Watts v. State*, 635 So.2d 1364, 1368 (Miss. 1994) (quoting *Jenkins v. State*, 507 So.2d 89, 91 (Miss. 1987)). Even if the evidence does pass muster under Rule 404(b), it must still pass the test of Rule 403. *Watts*, 635 So.2d at 1368. The Court in *Jenkins* also stated:

To be sure, evidence admissible under Rule 404(b) is also subject to the prejudice test of Rule 403; that is, even though the Circuit Court considered the evidence at issue under Rule 404(b), it was still required by Rule 403 to consider whether its probative value on the issues of motive, opportunity and intent was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. In this sense Rule 403 is an ultimate filter through which all otherwise admissible evidence must pass. *Watts*, 635 So.2d at 1368 (Miss. 1994) (quoting *Jenkins*, 507 So.2d at 93 (Miss. 1987)).

In the present case, the trial court did not address either prong. Looking at the first prong, this Court has stated that the "[a]dmission of evidence of unrelated crimes for

the purpose of showing the defendant acted in conformity therewith has repeated been found reversible error." *Duplantis*, 644 So.2d at 1247; *Rose v. State*, 556 So.2d 728, 731 (Miss. 1990). Flowers was charged with Statutory Rape in the indictment. Clerk's Paper 1, R.E. 24. However, in the alleged statement, Jacorius grabbed Flowers' penis. Exhibit S-2, R.E. 44. Jacorius further sucked on Flowers' penis. *Id.* The evidence should not have been admitted pursuant to one of the exceptions enumerated in M.R.E. 404(b). These facts should not have been presented to the jury because they were not listed in the indictment. These facts were clearly presented to inflame the jury.

Furthermore, the probative value of the evidence did not substantially outweigh the prejudicial effect of the prior alleged crimes as required by M.R.E. 403. As previously indicated, the prior alleged bad acts did not have any probative value regarding the exceptions set forth in M.R.E. 404(b), so there is no possible way it could have substantially outweighed the prejudicial effect of the evidence.

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