IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

RAPHAEL FLOWERS

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2009-KA-0387

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: STEPHANIE B. WOOD

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The State was not barred by double jeopardy from prosecuting the Appellant after the Appellant's first trial ended in mistrial. Double jeopardy does not apply when the defendant moves for mistrial unless he or she can establish bad faith prosecutorial misconduct. The Appellant failed to do so. Furthermore, the record does not indicate that the prosecution was attempting to goad or provoke the Appellant into moving for a mistrial.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing the Appellant's entire statement into evidence. The acts admitted by the Appellant which constituted the criminal act of fondling were so interrelated to the acts which constituted statutory rape as to constitute a single occurrence.

Additionally, evidence of those acts was necessary for the State to tell a rational and coherent story of what happened.

The trial court properly denied the Appellant's motion for new trial based upon violation of Uniform Circuit and County Court Rule 9.04. First, the alleged discovery violation did not prejudice the Appellant; nor does the record indicate that there was a miscarriage of justice. Second, the matter was not timely and properly brought before the trial court. When the testimony at issue was given, the Appellant failed to object. Lastly, the State affirmatively stated for the record that it was not aware of the information in question until it also heard the testimony at the sentencing hearing.

ARGUMENT

I. THE STATE WAS NOT BARRED BY DOUBLE JEOPARDY FROM PROSECUTING THE APPELLANT AFTER THE APPELLANT'S FIRST TRIAL ENDED IN MISTRIAL.

The Appellant first argues that "under double jeopardy the State was barred from prosecuting [him] again because the first case resulted in a mistrial based on prosecutorial misconduct." (Appellant's Brief p. 7). This Court has previously held that it is "unwilling to rule that the double jeopardy provision of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution means that every time a defendant is put to trial he must be set free if the trial aborts and does not conclude with a final judgment." *Carter v. State*, 402 So.2d 817, 820 (Miss. 1981). "If mistrial is granted upon the court's motion or upon the State's motion, a second trial is barred because of double jeopardy, unless taking into consideration all the circumstances there was a 'manifest necessity' for the mistrial." *Jenkins v. State*, 759 So.2d 1229, 1234 (Miss. 2000). The record clearly indicates that in the case at hand,

the Appellant moved for mistrial on two separate occasions. (Transcript p. 2 and 143)³. Therefore, the following standard applies:

Generally, a defendant who moves for mistrial is barred from later complaining of double jeopardy. (citation omitted). To overcome this bar, [the defendant] must show that error occurred and that it was committed by the prosecution purposefully to force [the defendant] to move for a mistrial. (citations omitted). Without proof of judicial error prejudicing the defendant or bad faith prosecutorial misconduct, double jeopardy does not arise. (citations omitted).

Nicholson on behalf of Gollott v. State, 672 So.2d 744, 750 (Miss. 1996).

The record indicates that the Appellant moved for mistrial because of the actions of the prosecutor and that the trial court granted the mistrial based on those actions. (Transcript p. 144). However, simply establishing that the prosecutor's actions were the basis for the trial court's granting the Appellant's motion for mistrial is not enough as evidenced by numerous cases wherein a mistrial was declared because of the actions of the prosecution, yet it was held that there was not a sufficient showing of bad faith prosecutorial misconduct and therefore, double jeopardy did not arise. *See Daniels v. State*, 9 So.3d 1194, 1199-1200 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009) (mistrial the result of prosecutorial discovery violation); *Roberson v. State*, 856 So.2d 532, 533-35 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003) (mistrial the result of prosecutorial discovery violation); *State v. Blendon*, 748 So.2d 77, 90 (Miss. 1999) (mistrial the result of prosecutorial discovery violation which resulted in monetary sanctions against prosecutor); and *Wheat v. State*, 599 So.2d 963, 964-65 (Miss. 1992) (retrial granted on sentencing portion of trial which was the result of the prosecution making the "you do not have the

The Appellant first moved for mistrial after the prosecutor stated the following during opening arguments: "Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, this is one of the saddest and sickening cases I've ever tried." The Appellant objected and moved for mistrial. The trial court did not grant a mistrial but did admonish the jury to disregard the statement. (Transcript p. 2 - 4). The Appellant moved for mistrial a second time during the prosecution's cross-examination of one of the defense's witnesses wherein the witness was asked, "And also if this happened over a year ago, why are you just waiting until today to come in and make this statement that you were with him the whole time?" (Transcript p. 143). It was upon this motion that a mistrial was declared. (Transcript p. 144).

final word" argument during closing).

"When a defendant moves for a mistrial he or she will be barred from later claiming a double jeopardy violation, unless it can be shown that the error at issue was committed by the prosecution with the intent of forcing the defendant to move for a mistrial." State v. Blendon, 748 So.2d 77, 90 (Miss. 1999) (emphasis added). Thus, for the Appellant to succeed on this claim, bad faith prosecutorial misconduct must be shown. In other words, it has to be evident that the State intended to "goad" or "provoke" the Appellant into declaring a mistrial. Roberson v. State, 856 So.2d 532, 535 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003). The Appellant's own counsel stated, during a hearing prior to the second trial, that he was not arguing that the prosecutor "did anything intentional." (Transcript p. 147). Moreover, during the hearing on the Appellant's motion to dismiss on the grounds of double jeopardy, the prosecutor explained why he questioned the defense witness as he did which ultimately resulted in the mistrial. (Transcript p. 243 - 245). This unequivocally establishes that the prosecution was not attempting to goad the Appellant into moving for a mistrial. "A prosecutorial error necessitating the declaration of a mistrial does not necessarily amount to an intent to force the defendant to move for mistrial." State v. Blendon, 748 So.2d 77, 90 (Miss. 1999). The Appellant here, just as the defendant in State v. Blending, "failed to offer any evidence that the prosecutor had the intent to force the defense to move for a mistrial." *Id*. Accordingly, the State was not barred by double jeopardy from prosecuting the Appellant after the mistrial was declared.

II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING INTO EVIDENCE THE APPELLANT'S ENTIRE STATEMENT TO POLICE.

The Appellant also argues that he "was irreparably and unfairly prejudiced when character evidence of prior bad acts or other unrelated crimes not charged in the indictment were admitted over [his] objection." (Appellant's Brief p. 11). "[T]he admissibility of evidence rests within the trial

court's discretion." *McGowan v. State*, 859 So.2d 320, 328 (Miss. 2003). "Unless the trial court abused its judicial discretion to the point of prejudicing the accused, this Court must affirm the trial court's ruling." *Id*.

Specifically, the Appellant contends that his entire statement should not have been allowed into evidence; but instead the portions of the statement⁴ concerning criminal acts not charged in the indictment should have been redacted as those portions were "evidence of prior bad acts or other unrelated crimes." (Appellant's Brief p. 11). Mississippi law is well-settled with regard to this issue:

Evidence of other bad acts committed by a defendant is not generally admissible as a part of the State's case-in-chief. *Neal v. State*, 451 So.2d 743, 758 (Miss.1984). However, proof of another crime is admissible where the offense charged and that offered to be proved are so interrelated as to constitute a single transaction or occurrence or a closely related series of transactions or occurrences. *Underwood v. State*, 708 So.2d 18, 32 (Miss.1998). The rationale for admitting evidence of certain closely related acts is that the State "has a legitimate interest in telling a rational and coherent story of what happened...." *Brown v. State*, 483 So.2d 328, 329 (Miss.1986). The telling of the story may require revealing information about other wrongs perpetrated by the defendant. *Id*.

Sykes v. State, 749 So.2d 239, 244 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999) (emphasis added). A simple reading of the Appellant's statement illustrates just how interrelated the Appellant's act of raping the victim and fondling the victim were. Moreover, this Court has previously upheld a trial court's decision to allow evidence of a defendant's fondling his victim when he was only charged with statutory rape because the two acts were so interrelated and because the evidence was needed in order to tell a complete story and avoid confusion among jurors. See Price v. State, 898 So.2d 641, 654 (Miss. 2005). Additionally, the Court of Appeals noted in Weathersby v. State, that this Court had

⁴ The statement given by the Appellant is set forth above in the "Statement of the Facts" section of this brief. It was read into evidence on page 347 of the transcript and entered into evidence as Exhibit S-2.

previously held that "such a paring away of the facts surrounding a particular incident is not necessary" as "the jury is entitled to hear all the facts in order to have as complete a grasp as possible as to what actually occurred." 769 So.2d 857, 859 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) (citing *Bell v. State*, 725 So.2d 836 (Miss. 1998)). The *Weathersby* Court further stated that:

We do not think that a criminal defendant may scour the criminal code to find a statute different from the one under which he is being tried that arguably prohibits some action that occurred during the event and then use that as a basis to exclude evidence of that action. Were the jury limited to hearing only a piecemeal version of the critical events surrounding alleged criminal activity, cleansed of any mention of acts not directly related to the essential elements of the charged crime, the chance for misunderstanding and confusion would rise to an intolerably high level. Matters that, taken in isolation and out of context, might appear implausible could conceivably take on an entirely different light if the jury had a full understanding of all events. The theory of the law as found in Rule 404(b) that bars the jury from considering unrelated bad acts simply does not apply with the same force to bad acts that are inextricably intertwined in the criminal event being tried, and we decline to extend the concept that far.

Id. (emphasis added).

As the acts admitted by the Appellant which constituted the criminal act of fondling were so interrelated to the acts which constituted statutory rape as to constitute a single occurrence and as evidence of those acts was necessary for the State to tell a rational and coherent story of what happened, the entire statement of the Appellant was admissible. Thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing the statement into evidence.

III. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL BASED UPON VIOLATION OF UNIFORM CIRCUIT AND COUNTY COURT RULE 9.04.

Lastly, the Appellant argues that "the trial court erred in denying [his] motion for a new trial after the State failed to comply with discovery rules by failing to disclose medical records that a witness was receiving therapy." (Appellant's Brief p. 15). During the sentencing hearing, the State questioned Elnora Banks, the grandmother of Count I Victim, about how the victim had been since

the incident in question, and she responded that he was "doing okay since he going to counseling." (Transcript p. 547). This was the first time the State or the Appellant had heard that the victim had been to counseling. The Appellant did not object to the testimony during the sentencing hearing. He later filed a motion for new trial based upon violation of Uniform Circuit and County Court Rule 9.04. (Record p. 259). A hearing was held on this motion on February 9, 2009. (Transcript p. 564 - 579). During this hearing, counsel for the State stated for the record that he could not find "any record that the State knew or had in its possession any kind of documents that it did not produce to the defendant, particularly these records from this young child." (Transcript p. 572). He further stated that had the State been aware of the existence of records regarding counseling the victim received after the incident, the State would have certainly used them to in its case in chief. (Transcript p. 573). At the conclusion of the hearing, the trial judge denied the motion.

"The trial court has considerable discretion in matters pertaining to discovery, and its exercise of discretion will not be set aside in the absence of an abuse of that discretion." Steadham v. State 995 So.2d 835, 838 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) (quoting King v. State, 857 So.2d 702, 714(¶ 12) (Miss.2003)). In the case at hand, the trial court did not err in denying the motion for new trial for several reasons. First and foremost, "a violation of Rule 9.04 is considered harmless error unless it affirmatively appears from the entire record that a violation caused a miscarriage of justice." Powell v. State, 925 So.2d 878, 881 -883 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) (citing Wyatt v. City of Pearl, 876 So.2d 281, 284(Miss.2004). "Even in cases where it has been found that there was a clear discovery violation, the violation has been held to be harmless error where there was no prejudice suffered by the defendant." Gray v. State, 926 So.2d 961, 971 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (citing Jones v. State, 669 So.2d 1383, 1392 (Miss.1995)). The Appellant does not assert that the alleged discovery violation prejudiced his case. He simply states that had the trial court granted him a new trial then his counsel

would have had time "to prepare and adjust his strategy for the newly discovered evidence." (Appellant's Brief p. 17). This generic assertion certainly does not establish that the Appellant was prejudiced by the alleged violation; nor does it affirmatively appear from the record that there was a miscarriage of justice. Secondly, the matter was not properly and timely brought to the attention of the trial court. See O'Neal v. State, 977 So.2d 1252, 1255 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) (holding that because the defendant chose to allow the trial to continue, he waived any remedy for the State's discovery violation); Powell v. State, 925 So.2d 878, 882 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) (holding that it would have been preferable for the defendant to have brought the violation to the court's attention when the matter first arose during trial); and Williams v. State, 854 So.2d 1077, 1080 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003) (holding that "[i]f a defendant who has been surprised by undisclosed discoverable evidence does not request a continuance at the time of such surprise, he waives this issue on appeal"). Lastly, the record indicates that the State was not aware that the victim had been seeing a counselor. As set forth above, counsel for the State informed the trial court that there was nothing in the State's files indicating that the victim had been to see a counselor. Accordingly, the trial court properly denied the Appellant's motion for new trial based upon violation of Uniform Circuit and County Court Rule 9.04.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State of Mississippi respectfully requests this Honorable Court to affirm the Appellant's conviction and sentence.